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The distinguished architect Benjamin H. Latrobe designed St. John's,constructed in
1815-16 in the form of a Greek cross. A lantern cupola sitting above a flat dome
dominated the gabled roofline, which towered above the high sidewalls. At the
intersections of the transepts were four massive pillars. Surrounding the interior
was a graceful circular gallery, which had a railing and was supported by columns.
The aisles were of brick and the pews high-backed. Within the chancel was a com-
munion table, above which was a movable wine-glass pulpit, reached by a spiral
staircase.

Four years after the completion of the church, workmen erected a major addition

on the west side, fronted by a Doric-columned portico which became the new main
entrance, and above which rose a high steeple. New flat-roofed vestibules, just
behind and lower than the portico, created the form of a Latin instead of a Greek
cross. In 1842 church officials replaced the old pews and subsequently made other
minor modifications, but over the course of the years restored many original
features.

St. John's Church, in fine condition today, is still an active parish church. The
basic structure, much the same as at the time of the original construction and
subsequent major enlargement, is of brick and yellow stucco with white trim.
Twenty-seven handsome memorial windows adorn the building Many of the Presidents
have authographed an 18th-century prayerbook, placed in the President's pew. A
silver chalice donated by John Tayloe, builder of Octagon House, and a solid gold
communion chalice, encrusted with jewels, are among the many notable treasures of
the church.
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St. John's Episcopal Church, Lafayette Square, long known as "the Church of the
Presidents' has served virtually as the chapel to the White House for nearly two
centuries.

As far back as 1816, records show that at that time a committee was formed to
"wait on the President of the United States (James Madison) and offer him a pew

in the church without his being obliged to purchase same." Madison chose pew 54,
but insisted on paying the customary annual rental. The next five Presidents in
succession - Monroe, Adams, Jackson, Van Buren, and Harrison--occupied this pew
during their terms of office, and since then, by tradition, pew 54 has been set
aside for Presidents of the United States. Every Chief Executive since Madison
has attended some service there and many have been members. Franklin D. Roosevelt
paid homage to the tradition by spending a few minutes in prayer here on his two
inauguration days. The church is connected with the Presidents in other ways.
James Madison's wife, Dolly, was baptized and confirmed there. President Harrison
and Taylor were buried from it.

In the architecture of Washington, St. John's Church also holds a distinguished
place. It was designed by Benjamin Latrobe, and in spite of changes today as a
notable example of late Federal architecture. Along with the Blair House and the
Decatur House, St. John's Church, which was completed in 1816, stands as one of
the few remaining original structures that are left around Lafayette Park today.

St. John's Church dates back to 1809. Its construction was delayed by the War

of 1812, when the British entered Washington and burned parts of the city.

Benjamin Henry Latrobe, the important early American architect, volunteered

his services to design a fitting church to be located just across the meadow

from the President's mansion. The cornerstone for St. John's was laid September 4,
1815, while Latrobe was overseeing repairs at the White House. He supervised both
projects and the church was completed in 1816.

Latrobe planned St. John's in the form of a Greek cross, with a flat dome and
lantern cupola. He conceived of his churches as meeting houses, with open
preaching space unencumbered by peers and columns, and a central pulpit. As a
result, directly in front of the communion table in the center of the chancel
arch of St. John's, he set the pulpit, entirely visible by all the congregation.

(Continued)
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St. John's size, however, soon proved inadequate to meet the needs of a growing
congregation, and in July 1820, pew holders decided it was expedient to enlarge
the church. The 1820-1822 remodeling added forty-two pews and the nave was
extended westward to the building line on 16th Street. A Doric portico, capped
by a three-stage Georgian tower, was added on that front, and a bill cast in the
foundry of Paul Revere's son, Joseph, was installed in the tower. A gallery was
extended over the addition, but this is contrary to the Latrobe plan. (He is not
responsible for the design of these additions as he died of yellow fever in 1820;
the architect of these alterations is unknown). Originally the gallery was circu-
lar, repeating the line of the dome above, and filling the nave, transepts and
one-half of the chancel and extending to the east wall on either side of the com-
munion table.

During the period 1836-1869, other major changes took place. The south transept
door was closed and replaced by a central window; the interior was embellished
with stencil and stained glass, and the chancel was enlarged. The box pews were
removed in 1842.

In 1883, James Renwick, the ecclesiastical architect, made radical alterationms.
Under his plans, the addition of the chantry to the rear and the installation of
numerous stained glass windows were accomplished. In extending the chancel,
Palladian windows were incorporated over the alter. Under the direction of the
firm of McKim, Mead and White, (in 1919-1920) the chancel was refirnished with
marble and marble columns and the interior of the dome was redecorated. During
the period 1950-1951, structural repairs were made and some of the Victorian
elements were removed.
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St. John's Church is located within the Lafayette Square National Historic
Landmark District and is also actually connected by a one-story addition to
its parish house (Ashburton House), which is a separate national historic
landmark. The boundary of the church itself is the boundary of the church
plot at the northeast corner of 16th and H Streets. The landscaping around
the church is limited, as the downtown lot is surrounded on the east and
north by other structures.

Beginning at the northeast corner of the intersection of 16th and H Streets,
the boundary follows the east curb of 16th Street northerly; thence easterly
along the north property line; thence south along the east wall of the church
to H Street; thence westerly along the north curb of H Street to the beginning
point.
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